# IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON **DIVISION TWO** STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent, ٧. DAROLD STENSON, Appellant. ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR CLALLAM COUNTY The Honorable S. Brooke Taylor, Judge **BRIEF OF APPELLANT CASEY GRANNIS**

CASEY GRANNIS
Attorney for Appellant

NIELSEN, BROMAN & KOCH, PLLC 1908 East Madison Seattle, WA 98122 (206) 623-2373

#### **

1.	Procedural Facts
	2.	Trial: Introduction
	3.	Stenson's statements to police
	4.	Testimony on the background and surrounding timeframe of the deaths
	5.	Further investigation and forensic analyses
	6.	Insurance and finances
	7.	Denise Hoerner: the other suspect
	8.	Theories of case
C.	ARGU	<u>JMENT</u>
	RI M	HE TRIAL COURT VIOLATED STENSON'S CrR 3.3 GHT TO A SPEEDY TRIAL IN GRANTING THE STATE'S OTION FOR CONTINUANCE PAST THE SPEEDY TRIAL EADLINE ON AN UNTENABLE GROUND
	a.	Over defense objection, the trial court granted the State's motion to continue the case because the prosecutor's office did not have enough staff to prepare for trial by the deadline
	b.	An understaffed prosecutor's office is not a valid reason to continue the trial

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONT'D)

Page	
------	--

2.	ST OF	IE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT ENSON'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE CASE IN LIGHT THE STATE'S MISMANAGEMENT OF THE CASE AND JE PROCESS VIOLATIONS45
	a.	The court erred in failing to dismiss under CrR 8.3(b) 46
	b.	Dismissal is warranted due to the <u>Brady</u> violation 60
	c.	Dismissal is warranted under the federal test for destruction of evidence
	d.	Dismissal is warranted under an independent due process test based on the Washington Constitution
	i	Washington's due process clause should be interpreted independently from the Fourteenth Amendment in the destruction of evidence context
	ii.	The due process test set forth in Wright and Vaster requires dismissal
3.		IE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO EXCLUDE IE PANTS EVIDENCE72
	a.	Summary of the CrR 8.3(b) and due process arguments in support of suppression
	b.	The pants should have been suppressed pursuant to CrR 8.3(b)
	c.	The pants should have been suppressed under a due process destruction of evidence theory
4.	SP	IE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE THE OLIATION INSTRUCTION PERTAINING TO THE NTS76

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONT'D)

		Page
	a.	The requirements for the spoliation instruction were met
	b.	The instruction was not a comment on the evidence because it did not convey the judge's personal attitudes about a factual issue in the case
	c.	The instructional error was prejudicial
5.	MI OI OF	IE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO GRANT A ISTRIAL AFTER THE STATE'S WITNESS — THE THER SUSPECT IN THIS CASE — EXPRESSED HER PINION THAT STENSON WAS GUILTY OF KILLING ER HUSBAND
	a.	After being told not to express any opinions in testifying, Mrs. Hoerner expressed her opinion that Stenson was the killer
	b.	Given the seriousness of the irregularity and the dubious effect of an instruction to disregard, the trial court abused its discretion in failing to grant a mistrial
6.	OF	IE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ADMITTING EVIDENCE A DEFENSE WITNESS'S PRIOR DRUG ONVICTIONS UNDER ER 609
	a.	The court admitted evidence of a defense witness's prior drug convictions over defense objection
	b.	The court failed to articulate why the evidence supposedly impacted credibility and why such evidence was more probative than prejudicial
7.		OSECUTORIAL MISCONDUCT VIOLATED STENSON'S JE PROCESS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL. 107

## TABLE OF CONTENTS (CONT'D)

Page

		a. The prosecutor impermissibly quantified its burden to prove its case beyond a reasonable doubt by resorting to a puzzle analogy
		b. Reversal is required because the misconduct could not be cured by court instruction and there is a substantial likelihood that it affected the outcome
	8.	THE MANDATORY JURY INSTRUCTION, "A REASONABLE DOUBT IS ONE FOR WHICH A REASON EXISTS," IS UNCONSTITUTIONAL
		a. WPIC 4.01's language improperly adds an articulation requirement
		b. WPIC 4.01's articulation requirement impermissibly undermines the presumption of innocence
		c. This structural error requires reversal
	9.	CUMULATIVE ERROR DEPRIVED STENSON OF HIS CONSTITUTIONAL DUE PROCESS RIGHT TO A FAIR TRIAL 125
D.	<u>CC</u>	DNCLUSION 127

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
1000 Virginia P'ship v. Vertecs, 158 Wn.2d 566, 146 P.3d 423 (2006)
<u>City of Kent v. Sandhu,</u> 159 Wn. App. 836, 247 P.3d 454 (2011)
<u>Henderson v. Tyrrell.</u> 80 Wn. App. 592, 910 P.2d 522 (1996)
<u>Homeworks Const., Inc. v. Wells,</u> 133 Wn. App. 892, 138 P.3d 654 (2006)
<u>In re Detention of Pouncy,</u> 168 Wn.2d 382, 229 P.3d 678 (2010)
<u>In re Electric Lightwave, Inc.,</u> 123 Wn.2d 530, 869 P.2d 1045 (1994)
<u>In re Pers. Restraint of Glasmann,</u> 175 Wn.2d 696, 706, 286 P.3d 673 (2012)
<u>In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson,</u> 174 Wn.2d 474, 276 P.3d 286 (2012)
<u>James v. Robeck,</u> 79 Wn.2d 864, 490 P.2d 878 (1971)96
<u>Lynott v. National Union Fire Ins. Co. of Pittsburgh, Pa.,</u> 123 Wn.2d 678, 871 P.2d 146 (1994)
Pier 67, Inc. v. King County, 89 Wn.2d 379, 573 P.2d 2 (1977)
Slattery v. City of Seattle, 169 Wn. 144, 13 P.2d 464 (1932)

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
<u>State v. Adamski,</u> 111 Wn.2d 574, 761 P.2d 621 (1988)
<u>State v. Albutt,</u> 99 Wn. 253, 169 P. 584, 586 (1917)
<u>State v. Alexander,</u> 64 Wn. App. 147, 822 P.2d 1250 (1992)
<u>State v. Anderson,</u> 153 Wn. App. 417, 220 P.3d 1273 (2009), <u>review denied,</u> 170 Wn.2d 1002, 245 P.3d 226 (2010)
<u>State v. Aumick,</u> 126 Wn.2d 422, 894 P.2d 1325 (1995)
<u>State v. Babcock,</u> 145 Wn. App. 157, 185 P.3d 1213 (2008)
State v. Bartholomew, 101 Wn.2d 631, 683 P.2d 1079 (1984)
<u>State v. Becker,</u> 132 Wn.2d 54, 935 P.2d 1321 (1997)
State v. Bennett, 161 Wn.2d 303, 165 P.3d 1241 (2007)
State v. Black, 109 Wn.2d 336, 745 P.2d 12 (1987)
<u>State v. Blackwell,</u> 120 Wn.2d 822, 845 P.2d 1017 (1993)
<u>State v. Blair,</u> 117 Wn.2d 479, 816 P.2d 718 (1991)80

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
<u>State v. Boyd,</u> 160 Wn.2d 424, 158 P.3d 54 (2007)
<u>State v. Boyd,</u> 29 Wn. App. 584, 629 P.2d 930 (1981)
<u>State v. Brooks,</u> 149 Wn. App. 373, 203 P.3d 397 (2009)
<u>State v. Burden,</u> 104 Wn. App. 507, 17 P.3d 1211 (2001)
<u>State v. Calegar,</u> 133 Wn.2d 718, 947 P.2d 235 (1997)
<u>State v. Campbell,</u> 103 Wn.2d 1, 691 P.2d 929 (1984)
<u>State v. Case,</u> 49 Wn.2d 66, 298 P.2d 500 (1956)
<u>State v. Charlton,</u> 90 Wn.2d 657, 585 P.2d 142 (1978)
<u>State v. Coe,</u> 101 Wn.2d 772, 684 P.2d 668 (1984)
<u>State v. Curtiss,</u> 161 Wn. App. 673, 250 P.3d 496 (2011), review denied, 172 Wn.2d 1012, 259 P.3d 1109 (2011)
<u>State v. Dailey,</u> 93 Wn.2d 454, 610 P.2d 357 (1980)
<u>State v. Davenport,</u> 100 Wn.2d 757, 675 P.2d 1213 (1984)

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
<u>State v. Davis,</u> 73 Wn.2d 271, 438 P.2d 185 (1968)
<u>State v. Emery,</u> 174 Wn.2d 741, 278 P.3d 653 (2012)
<u>State v. Escalona,</u> 49 Wn. App. 251, 742 P.2d 190 (1987)
<u>State v. Fisher,</u> 165 Wn.2d 727, 202 P.3d 937 (2009)
State v. Fleming, 83 Wn. App. 209, 921 P.2d 1076 (1996), review denied, 131 Wn.2d 1018, 936 P.2d 417 (1997)
<u>State v. Flinn.</u> 154 Wn.2d 193, 110 P.3d 748 (2005)
State v. Fuller, 169 Wn. App. 797, 282 P.3d 126 (2012), review denied, 176 Wn.2d 1006, 297 P.3d 68 (2013) 112, 114, 115
<u>State v. Gamble,</u> 168 Wn.2d 161, 225 P.3d 973 (2010)
<u>State v. Grant,</u> 9 Wn. App. 260, 511 P.2d 1013, review denied, 83 Wn.2d 1003 (1973)
<u>State v. Groth,</u> 163 Wn. App. 548, 261 P.3d 183 (2011), review denied, 173 Wn.2d 1026, 272 P.3d 852 (2012) 65, 67
<u>State v. Gunwall,</u> 106 Wn.2d 54, 720 P.2d 808 (1986)

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
<u>State v. Hager,</u> 171 Wn.2d 151, 248 P.3d 512 (2011)
<u>State v. Hardy,</u> 133 Wn.2d 701, 946 P.2d 1175 (1997)
<u>State v. Harvill,</u> 169 Wn.2d 254, 234 P.3d 1166 (2010)
<u>State v. Johnson,</u> 158 Wn. App. 677, 243 P.3d 936 (2010), review denied, 171 Wn.2d 1013, 249 P.3d 1029 (2011) 
<u>State v. Johnson,</u> 152 Wn. App. 924, 219 P.3d 958 (2009)
State v. Jones, 101 Wn.2d 113, 677 P.2d 131(1984), overruled in part on other grounds by State v. Ray, 116 Wn.2d 531, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991)
State v. Kalebaugh, 179 Wn. App. 414, 318 P.3d 288, review granted, 180 Wn.2d 1013, 327 P.3d 54 (2014)
<u>State v. Kenyon,</u> 167 Wn.2d 130, 216 P.3d 1024 (2009)
<u>State v. Kingen,</u> 39 Wn. App. 124, 692 P.2d 215 (1984)
<u>State v. Koch,</u> 157 Wn. App. 20, 237 P.3d 287 (2010), review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1022, 245 P.3d 773 (2011)

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
<u>State v. Lindsay,</u> 180 Wn.2d 423, 326 P.3d 125 (2014)
<u>State v. Mack,</u> 89 Wn.2d 788, 576 P.2d 44 (1978)
<u>State v. Marks,</u> 114 Wn.2d 724, 790 P.2d 138 (1990)
<u>State v. Martinez,</u> 121 Wn. App. 21, 86 P.3d 1210 (2004)
<u>State v. Michielli,</u> 132 Wn.2d 229, 937 P.2d 587 (1997)
<u>State v. Miles,</u> 73 Wn.2d 67, 436 P.2d 198 (1968)
<u>State v. Montgomery,</u> 163 Wn.2d 577, 183 P.3d 267 (2008)
<u>State v. Morsette,</u> 7 Wn. App. 783, 502 P.2d 1243 (1972)
State v. Mullin-Coston, 115 Wn. App. 679, 64 P.3d 40 (2003), aff'd, 152 Wn.2d 107 (2004)
<u>State v. Oppelt,</u> 172 Wn.2d 285, 257 P.3d 653 (2011)
<u>State v. Ortiz,</u> 119 Wn.2d 294, 831 P.2d 1060 (1992)
<u>State v. Paumier,</u> 176 Wn.2d 29, 288 P.3d 1126 (2012)

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
<u>State v. Powell,</u> 62 Wn. App. 914, 816 P.2d 86 (1991)
<u>State v. Price,</u> 94 Wn.2d 810, 620 P.2d 994 (1980)
<u>State v. Quaale,</u> 182 Wn.2d 191, 340 P.3d 213 (2014)
<u>State v. Ray,</u> 116 Wn.2d 531, 806 P.2d 1220 (1991)
<u>State v. Reed,</u> 102 Wn.2d 140, 684 P.2d 699 (1984)
<u>State v. Russell,</u> 104 Wn. App. 422, 16 P.3d 664 (2001)
<u>State v. Saunders,</u> 153 Wn. App. 209, 220 P.3d 1238 (2009)
<u>State v. Sherman,</u> 59 Wn. App. 763, 801 P.2d 274 (1990)
State v. Smith, 174 Wn. App. 359, 298 P.3d 785, review denied, 178 Wn.2d 1008, 308 P.3d 643 (2013)
<u>State v. Stein,</u> 140 Wn. App. 43, 165 P.3d 16 (2007)
<u>State v. Striker,</u> 87 Wn.2d 870, 557 P.2d 847 (1976)
<u>State v. Thompson,</u> 90 Wn. App. 41, 950 P.2d 977 (1998)

Page
WASHINGTON CASES
<u>State v. Vaster,</u> 99 Wn.2d 44, 659 P.2d 528 (1983)
State v. Venegas, 155 Wn. App. 507, 228 P.3d 813 (2010), review denied, 170 Wn.2d 1003, 245 P.3d 226 (2010)
<u>State v. Walker,</u> 182 Wn.2d 463, 341 P.3d 976 (2015)
<u>State v. Walker,</u> 136 Wn.2d 767, 966 P.2d 883 (1998)
<u>State v. Walker,</u> 164 Wn. App. 724, 265 P.3d 191 (2011)
<u>State v. Wake,</u> 56 Wn. App. 472, 783 P.2d 1131 (1989)
<u>State v. Weber,</u> 99 Wn.2d 158, 659 P.2d 1102 (1983)
<u>State v. Williams,</u> 104 Wn. App. 516, 17 P.3d 648 (2001)
<u>State v. Wittenbarger,</u> 124 Wn.2d 467, 880 P.2d 517 (1994)
<u>State v. Woods,</u> 143 Wn.2d 561, 23 P.3d 1046 (2001)
<u>State v. Wright,</u> 87 Wn.2d 783, 557 P.2d 1 (1976)
<u>State v. Yates,</u> 111 Wn.2d 793, 765 P.2d 291 (1988)

Page
STATE CASES
<u>State v. Young,</u> 123 Wn.2d 173, 867 P.2d 593 (1994)
<u>Tavai v. Walmart Stores, Inc.,</u> 176 Wn. App. 122, 307 P.3d 811 (2013)
FEDERAL CASES
Arizona v. Youngblood, 488 U.S. 51, 109 S. Ct. 333, 102 L. Ed. 2d 281 (1988) 64, 67, 69-71, 85
Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963) 
<u>California v. Trombetta</u> , 467 U.S. 479, 104 S. Ct. 2528, 81 L. Ed. 2d 413 (1984)
<u>Dunckhurst v. Deeds,</u> 859 F.2d 110 (9th Cir. 1988)
<u>Dunn v. United States,</u> 307 F.2d 883 (5th Cir. 1962)
<u>Greer v. Miller,</u> 483 U.S. 756, 107 S. Ct. 3102, 97 L. Ed. 2d 618 (1987)
<u>In re Winship,</u> 397 U.S. 358, 90 S. Ct. 1068, 25 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970)
<u>Jackson v. Virginia,</u> 443 U.S. 307, 99 S. Ct. 2781, 61 L. Ed. 2d 560 (1979)
<u>Johnson v. Louisiana,</u> 406 U.S. 356, 92 S. Ct. 1620, 32 L. Ed. 2d 152 (1972)

Page
FEDERAL CASES
<u>Krulewitch v. United States,</u> 336 U.S. 440, 69 S. Ct. 716, 93 L. Ed. 790 (1949)
<u>Parle v. Runnels,</u> 505 F.3d 922 (9th Cir. 2007)
<u>Sullivan v. Louisiana,</u> 508 U.S. 275, 113 S. Ct. 2078, 124 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1993)
<u>United States v. Bagley,</u> 473 U.S. 667, 105 S. Ct. 3375, 87 L. Ed. 2d 481 (1985)
<u>United States v. Barrera–Moreno,</u> 951 F.2d 1089 (9th Cir. 1991)
<u>United States v. Chapman,</u> 524 F.3d 1073 (9th Cir. 2008)
<u>United States v. Cooper,</u> 983 F.2d 928 (9th Cir. 1993)
United States v. Deaner, 1 F.3d 192 (3rd Cir. 1993) 64
<u>United States v. Elliott,</u> 83 F. Supp.2d 637 (E.D. Va. 1999)
<u>United States v. Johnson,</u> 343 F.2d 5 (2d Cir. 1965)
United States v. Struckman, 611 F.3d 560 (9th Cir.2010)
<u>Washington v. Hofbauer,</u> 228 F.3d 689 (6th Cir. 2000)

Page
OTHER STATE CASES
State v. Durnwald,
163 Ohio App.3d 361, 837 N.E.2d 1234 (Ohio Ct. App. 2005)
<u>State v. Tiedemann,</u> 162 P.3d 1106 (Utah 2007)
RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES
11 Washington Practice: Washington Pattern Jury Instructions: Criminal 4.01 (3d ed. 2008)
A. Friendly & R. Goldfarb, Crime and Publicity 103 (1967)
CrR 3.3
CrR 3.3(b)(1)
CrR 3.3(b)(5)
CrR 3.3(e)(3)
CrR 3.3(f)(2)
CrR 3.3(h)
CrR 4.7
CrR 8.3(b)
ER 609
ER 609(a)
ER 609(a)(1)
ER 609(a)(2)

Page
RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES
ER 804(b)(3)59
Daniel R. Dinger, <u>Should Lost Evidence Mean a Lost Chance to Prosecute?</u> : State Rejections of the United States Supreme Court Decision in Arizona v. Youngblood, 27 Am. J. Crim. L. 329 (2000)
Journal of the Washington State Constitutional Convention, 1889 (B. Rosenow, ed. 1962)
RAP 2.5(a)(3)
Robert F. Utter and Hugh D. Spitzer, The Washington State Constitution, (Conn. 2002)
Robert F. Utter, <u>Freedom and Diversity in a Federal System: Perspectives on State Constitutions and the Washington Declaration of Rights</u> , 7 U. Puget Sound L. Rev. 491 (1984)
Steve Sheppard, <u>The Metamorphoses of Reasonable Doubt: How Changes in the Burden of Proof Have Weakened the Presumption of Innocence</u> , 78  Notre Dame L. Rev. 1165 (2003)
U.S. Const. amend. VI
U.S. Const. amend. XIV
Wash. Const. art. I § 3
Wash. Const. art. I § 21
Wash. Const. art. I § 22
Wash. Const. art. IV § 16
Wayne R. LaFave et. al, Criminal Procedure, § 22.3(c) (2d ed. 1999) 100

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES	Page
RULES, STATUTES AND OTHER AUTHORITIES	
Webster's Third New Int'l Dictionary (1993)	118, 119

#### A. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- 1. The court erred in granting the State's motion to continue the trial, in violation of appellant's right to speedy trial under CrR 3.3.
- 2. The court erred in denying appellant's motion to dismiss the case under CrR 8.3(b).
- 3. The court erred in denying appellant's motion to dismiss the case due to failure to preserve evidence, in violation of the due process clauses of the federal and state constitutions.
- 4. The court erred in denying appellant's motion to dismiss the case due to the State's failure to timely disclose evidence favorable to appellant, in violation of due process.
- 5. The court erred in denying appellant's motion to exclude the pants evidence as a remedy for government mismanagement under CrR 8.3(b) and failure to preserve evidence under the due process clause.
- 6. The court erred in failing to give appellant's proposed spoliation instruction pertaining to the pants.
  - 7. The court erred in denying appellant's motion for mistrial.
- 8. The court erred in admitting evidence of a defense witness's prior convictions under ER 609.
- 9. Prosecutorial misconduct violated appellant's due process right to a fair trial.

- 10. The court erred in giving a flawed reasonable doubt instruction, in violation of due process.
- 11. Cumulative error deprived appellant of his due process right to a fair trial.

#### <u>Issues Pertaining to Assignments of Error</u>

- 1. Whether the court erred in continuing the trial, in violation of the right to speedy trial under CrR 3.3, because insufficient staff in the prosecutor's office due to budgetary constraints did not satisfy the "administration of justice" ground for continuance under CrR 3.3(f)(2)?
- 2. Whether the court erred in denying appellant's motion to dismiss because the government failed to preserve evidence, including the bloodstained portions of the pants worn by appellant on the morning of the deaths, failed to disclose evidence favorable to the defense in a timely manner, and otherwise mismanaged the case?
- 3. Whether the court erred in denying appellant's motion to exclude the pants as an appropriate lesser sanction for government mismanagement under CrR 8.3(b) and for violating due process in failing to preserve evidence?
- 4. Whether the court erred in refusing to give appellant's proposed spoliation instruction, which would have allowed the jury to

draw a negative inference against the State for compromising the integrity of the bloodstained pants?

- 5. Whether the court erred in denying appellant's motion for mistrial after the other suspect in this case gave an impermissible opinion on guilt in testifying that appellant was the killer?
- 6. Whether the court erred in admitting evidence of prior drug convictions to impeach a defense witness under ER 609 without articulating why admission was justified on the record?
- 7. Whether the prosecutor committed prejudicial misconduct in quantifying the beyond reasonable doubt standard through use of a puzzle analogy in rebuttal argument?
- 8. Whether the reasonable doubt instruction, in stating a "reasonable doubt is one for which a reason exists," misdescribes the burden of proof?

#### B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### 1. Procedural Facts

In 1994, Darold (DJ) Stenson was sentenced to death after he was found guilty of murdering Denise Stenson, his wife, and Frank Hoerner, his friend and business associate. <u>In re Pers. Restraint of Stenson</u>, 174 Wn.2d 474, 476, 478, 276 P.3d 286 (2012). Following an unsuccessful appeal and several failed personal restraint petitions, the Supreme Court in

2012 reversed the convictions because the State withheld favorable evidence from the defense related to police mishandling of pants worn by Stenson at the time of the deaths, in violation of <u>Brady v. Maryland</u>, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S. Ct. 1194, 10 L. Ed. 2d 215 (1963). <u>Stenson</u>, 174 Wn.2d at 478-79, 493-94.

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