NO. 45665-6-II

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

DAROLD STENSON,

Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF
CLALLAM COUNTY, STATE OF WASHINGTON
Superior Court No. 93-1-00039-1

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

MARK BURNS NICHOLS
Prosecuting Attorney

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

dismiss the case. App.'s Br. At 45. Specifically, the Defendant argues that the trial court should have dismissed the case because bloodstained portions of the pants were destroyed before a bloodstain analysis could be done on the pants and because the 911 CAD log was not preserved, and that dismissal was required under CrR 8.3 as well as under a due process analysis. The Defendant's claims are without merit, however, as the Defendant has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion.

Due Process and a Failure to Preserve Evidence Claim

With respect to preservation of evidence claims, the Washington Supreme Court has clearly held that the Washington State due process clause "affords the same protection regarding a criminal defendant's right to discover potentially exculpatory evidence as does its federal counterpart." *State v. Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d 467, 880 P.2d 517 (1994). Thus, Washington courts follow two Supreme Court cases, *California v. Trombetta*, 467 U.S. 479, 104 S.Ct. 2528, 81 L.Ed.2d 413 (1984) and *Arizona v. Youngblood*, 488 U.S. 51, 109 S.Ct. 333, 102 L.Ed.2d 281 (1988), which developed tests to determine whether the government's failure to preserve evidence significant to the defense violates a defendant's due process rights. *Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d at 475.

Under these tests, the question of whether destruction of evidence violates due process depends on the nature of the evidence and the motivation of law enforcement. *Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d at 475–77, citing *Trombetta*, 467 U.S. at 489; *Arizona v. Youngblood*, 488 U.S. 51, 58, 109 S.Ct. 333, 102 L.Ed. 281 (1988). If the State has failed to preserve “material exculpatory evidence” criminal charges must be dismissed. *Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d at 475. The Court went on to note that the right to due process is limited, however, and thus the courts have been unwilling to “impose on the police an undifferentiated and absolute duty to retain and to preserve all material that might be of conceivable evidentiary significance in a particular prosecution.” *Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d at 475, quoting *Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 58, 109 S.Ct. at 337. Furthermore, a showing that the evidence might have exonerated the defendant is not enough. In order to be considered “material exculpatory evidence”, the evidence must both possess “an exculpatory value that was apparent before it was destroyed” and be of “such a nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means.” *Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d at 475, quoting *Trombetta*, 467 U.S. at 489, 104 S.Ct. at 2534.

Furthermore, under the Fourteenth Amendment, failure to preserve “potentially useful” evidence “does not constitute a denial of due process unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the part of the State.”

Wittenbarger, 124 Wn.2d at 475, citing *Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 58, 109 S.Ct. at 337. With respect to “potentially useful” evidence, the Supreme Court has explained that when all that can be said of the evidence is that it could have been subjected to further testing that might have been exculpatory, the evidence is characterized as “potentially useful” and a failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of due process of law absent a showing of bad faith,

[T]he Due Process Clause requires a different result when we deal with the failure of the State to preserve evidentiary material of which no more can be said than that it could have been subjected to tests, the results of which might have exonerated the defendant. Part of the reason for the difference in treatment is found in the observation made by the Court in *Trombetta*, *supra*, 467 U.S., at 486, 104 S.Ct., at 2532, that “whenever potentially exculpatory evidence is permanently lost, courts face the treacherous task of divining the import of materials whose contents are unknown and, very often, disputed.” Part of it stems from our unwillingness to read the “fundamental fairness” requirement of the Due Process Clause, *see Lisenba v. California*, 314 U.S. 219, 236, 62 S.Ct. 280, 289, 86 L.Ed. 166 (1941), as imposing on the police an undifferentiated and absolute duty to retain and to preserve all material that might be of conceivable evidentiary significance in a particular prosecution. We think that requiring a defendant to show bad faith on the part of the police both limits the extent of the police's obligation to preserve evidence to reasonable bounds and confines it to that class of cases where the interests of justice most clearly require it, i.e., those cases in which the police themselves by their conduct indicate that the evidence could form a basis for exonerating the defendant. We therefore hold that unless a criminal defendant can show bad faith on the part of the police, failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of due process of law.

Youngblood, 488 U.S. at 57-58; *See also*, *Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d at 477.

In *Youngblood*, for instance, the police negligently failed to preserve semen samples collected from the victim and the victim's clothing. *Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 58. Notwithstanding the State's negligence, the Court held that the defendant could not demonstrate the State acted in bad faith by destroying the potentially useful evidence and, therefore, there was no due process violation. *Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 58.

In setting forth the applicable tests under Washington law, the Washington Supreme Court specifically rejected the defense's invitation to employ a "reasonable balance" test which would not necessarily require a finding of bad faith for suppression of potentially exculpatory evidence. *Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d at 479.

Federal courts have also looked to the timing of when evidence was lost or destroyed, finding that the destruction of evidence after the expiration of the direct appeal was understandable and not a violation of due process. *See, e.g., Lovitt v. True*, 403 F.3d 171, 186 (4th Cir 2005); *Ferguson v. Roper*, 400 F.3d 635, 638 (8th Cir 2005) (holding that *Youngblood* does not apply to evidence not lost or destroyed until after trial).

The Present Case

In the present appeal the Defendant raises several different arguments regarding distinct items that were addressed in the motion to dismiss. First, the Defendant claims that when the State performed DNA tests on the jeans in 1993 and 1994 the State's cut out or destroyed portions of the jeans which rendered the Defendant's expert "unable to give a comprehensive, definitive opinion" on the blood spatter and how the blood was actually deposited on the pants. App.'s Br. at 49-50.

With respect to cutting that were taken from the pants, it is important to note that the State did take some efforts to preserve the evidence of what the pants looked like before the cuttings were taken. Specifically, a photograph of the pants was taken before the DNA testing. See Ex 155 and 156. The State also noted below that despite the claim by the defense expert, the State's experts were able to give opinions about the blood spatter based on an examination of the pants as well an examination of the photograph that was taken of the pants prior to the DNA examination. See, 2 RP 74; 3RP 2462-66; 3RP 2939-46.

The existence of the photograph of the pants calls into question whether this case even qualifies as a destruction of evidence or a failure to preserve evidence case. Nevertheless, even if the photograph were somehow

deemed inadequate, it is clear that that the cuttings from the jeans in the present case do not qualify as “material exculpatory evidence.” Rather, the evidence at issue was clearly “potentially useful” evidence” at best, as it was evidence might have been useful to the defense if it could have been subjected to further testing. As outlined above, the failure to preserve potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of due process of law absent a showing of bad faith.

The Defendant, however, has failed to show bad faith. First, the uncontested evidence was that the cuttings were taken from the jeans as part of the DNA testing process. Furthermore, a photograph was taken of the pants in order to document their condition before the cuttings were taken. While the defense expert might have opined that he would have preferred better documentation or a more thorough examination before the cuttings were made, the facts fall far short of demonstrating “bad faith” on the part of the State. To the contrary, the facts show a good faith effort on the part of the State to preserve the evidence while still conducting the critical DNA testing. The trial court, therefore, properly found no evidence of an intentional or bad faith destruction of evidence. 2 RP 93.

With respect to the 911 CAD log, the evidence below showed that an audio recording of the call itself was preserved, but the CAD logs were inadvertently destroyed sometime in 1998-99 when the 911 agency changed

their computer system. CP 1934; 3 RP 3473-76. At trial, a stipulation was read to the jury regarding this issue and the jury was informed that the defense had requested documentation regarding the exact time of the call and the CAD log, but that information was no longer available. 3 RP 3473-76.

With respect to the CAD log, the Defendant has failed to show that this evidence qualified as “material exculpatory evidence,” as there is nothing that proves that the log had “an exculpatory value that was apparent before it was destroyed” or that it would be “of such a nature that the defendant would be unable to obtain comparable evidence by other reasonably available means.” *Wittenbarqer*, 124 Wn.2d at 475, citing *Trombetta*, 467 U.S. at 489.

Rather, the CAD log was again, at best, “potentially useful” evidence that might have potentially of been of some use to the defense. It is also worth noting that numerous witnesses at trial testified about the timeline of events, including the time they were dispatched to the scene and the time they arrived at the scene. See, e.g., 3RP 580-81, 587, 605, 617, 721-22, 1780. In addition, the parties stipulated that the State had lost this evidence. 3 RP 3473-76.

As the evidence was, at best, potentially useful, the failure to preserve this potentially useful evidence does not constitute a denial of due process of law absent a showing of bad faith. Here the uncontroverted evidence was

that this evidence was not lost until well after the Defendant's first trial and direct appeal had concluded. This fact is, of course, strong evidence of the lack of bad faith. The trial court, therefore, properly rejected the Defendant's motion to dismiss based upon this issue.

In short, it is clear that under Washington law, the failure to preserve potentially useful information does not constitute a denial of due process absent a showing of bad faith. *Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d at 477; *Youngblood*, 488 U.S. at 57-58.² As the Defendant failed to show bad faith, the trial court properly rejected the Defendant's motion to dismiss with respect to the due process claim.

CrR 8.3

A trial court's ruling regarding a motion to dismiss charges under CrR 8.3(b) is reviewed for a manifest abuse of discretion. *State v. Warner*, 125 Wn.2d 876, 882, 889 P.2d 479 (1995). A trial court abuses its discretion when it bases its decision on untenable or unreasonable grounds. *State ex rel. Carroll v. Junker*, 79 Wn.2d 12, 26, 482 P.2d 775 (1971).

² The Defendant also argues that the Washington Constitution provides more protection than the federal constitution with respect to preservation of evidence claims, and goes through a *Gunwall* analysis. App.'s Br. at 67. As the Defendant concedes, however, the Washington Supreme Court has already ruled that the State constitution does not provide greater protection in this area, and that ruling is controlling in the present case. App.'s Br. at 67, citing *Wittenbarger*, 124 Wn.2d at 474, 481. This Court, therefore, need not go through a *Gunwall* analysis as the Supreme Court has already resolved this issue.

A criminal defendant bears the burden of proving both misconduct and prejudice by a preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d 647, 654, 71 P.3d 638 (2003) (citing *State v. Michielli*, 132 Wn.2d 229, 239–40, 937 P.2d 587 (1997)). With respect to the prejudice requirement, a defendant must show actual prejudice. *Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d at 657 (concluding that dismissal under CrR 8.3(b) for government misconduct or arbitrary action “requires a showing of actual prejudice”). The “mere possibility of prejudice is not sufficient to meet the burden of showing actual prejudice.” *State v. Norby*, 122 Wn.2d 258, 264, 858 P.2d 210 (1993), citing *State v. Ansell*, 36 Wn.App. 492, 498–99, 675 P.2d 614).

Furthermore, dismissal is an extraordinary remedy. *Rohrich*, 149 Wn.2d at 653, citing *State v. Baker*, 78 Wn.2d 327, 332–33, 474 P.2d 254 (1970). Similarly, Washington courts have explained that the law considers dismissal of a case an extraordinary remedy of last resort, and the trial court's authority to dismiss under CrR 8.3(b) is limited to “truly egregious cases of mismanagement or misconduct.” *State v. Koerber*, 85 Wn.App. 1, 4–5, 931 P.2d 904 (1996), quoting *State v. Duggins*, 68 Wn.App. 396, 401, 844 P.2d 441, aff'd, 121 Wn.2d 524, 852 P.2d 294 (1993). A trial court may also abuse its discretion where it ignores reasonable intermediate remedial steps. *Koerber*, 85 Wn.App. at 4. See also, *State v. Moen*, 150 Wn.2d 221, 226, 76 P.3d 721 (2003) (dismissal under CrR 8.3(b) is improper absent material

prejudice to the rights of the accused).

The Present Case

To the extent that the Defendant's motion to dismiss was based on CrR 8.3, the Defendant has similarly failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion. To the contrary, the record demonstrates that the trial court acted well within its discretion in denying the motion to dismiss based on the Defendant's claim of a CrR 8.3 violation.

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